University of Alberta

Who Ya Longs To? Indigenous Land-Based Learning

by

Jonathan M Pittman

A capping exercise submitted to the Faculty of Education

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Education

in

Educational Administration and Leadership

Faculty of Education

Edmonton, Alberta

August 11th, 2022

Abstract

"The purpose of education is to help students recognize who they are, to see their gifts, talents, and strengths and recognize the responsibility that accompanies these gifts, so they can survive, thrive, and contribute as they navigate through both the broader world and Indigenous cultures" (Goulet & Goulet, 2014, p. 5). As educators, we continue to try and incorporate ways to encourage all students to thrive. This research project focused on educators who have successfully implemented land-based learning programs to engage students and as a way to incorporate and validate an Indigenous World View. By interviewing three teachers who have implemented or have been involved in successful land-based learning experiences and using a thematic qualitative analysis approach, themes of success were identified. The key findings that emerged were that land-based learning is an excellent pedagogical practice that benefits many students, generally has a higher success rate in engaging students in the learning process, and is an ideal vehicle for developing relationships with students. Finally, the paper concludes by exploring some of the barriers to implementing land-based education and potential future steps regarding assessing and reporting land-based learning experiences. The recommendation from this study is that when incorporating land-based learning into one practice, one should pay attention to the pitfalls and barriers, plan accordingly, budget for such learning activities, and, if possible, incorporate local Elders or Knowledge Keepers into the learning plan and process.

Table of Contents

Who Ya Longs To?	5
Research Problem	6
Literature Review	7
Good Pedagogy is Good for All Learners	7
Student Engagement	9
Fostering Effective Relationships	13
Summary	14
Method	14
Respondent Group.	
Data Collection Process	16
Interview Design	17
Ethics	18
Data Analysis	18
Trustworthiness	19
Limitations	19
Findings and Discussion	20
Good Pedagogy Benefits All	21
Assessing and Reporting	28

Barriers to Land-based learning	8
Research Conclusions 3	1
Recommendations	5
Potential Next Steps	6
References	8
Appendix A4	4
Appendix B4	5
Appendix C4	8
Appendix D50	0

Who Ya Longs To?

The title of this section is a colloquial expression from the island where I spent the first twenty-five years of my life. Using this expression was a common practice where I grew up. Your family name often identified you, and in turn, that would often indicate what area or bay your family originated or resided in Newfoundland.

Within the Indigenous community, tracing one's lineage and expressing one's heritage and origins is common practice to provide context. When presenting through an indigenous worldview, it is important to put who you are in context. (Personal communication, Dr. Noella Steinhauer, November, 2021) Through my journey of learning about Indigenous perspectives and connecting with Elders and families, I have learned about many similarities between the family and community dynamics within the Indigenous community and those of growing up in rural Newfoundland. One important connection is through family and family lineage. I recall being in the presence of Elder Dave Matilipi when he would connect with students and ask who their grandparents were, then he would probe more and identify who the family were. After identifying who the student was, he would confirm by saying, "oh, you're so and so's boy, your grandparents are Mr. and Mrs. Whitehead; yes, I know your family."

I longs to Murdock and Rowena Pittman from Roddicton and Stephenville,

Newfoundland, respectively. My family lineage originated from Wales, Great Britain and

Flanders, Belgium and was among some early European settlers who established a home on

Newfoundland Island. My father was a clergy member, and we moved around many parts of the

Island as a child. Through this journey, I established connections with many different folks

around Newfoundland. Once I completed my undergraduate degrees, I moved to Peace River,

Alberta, with my wife. It was in Peace River during my journey in school administration that I

took responsibility for the portfolio of supporting and incorporating Indigenous perspectives into our school building. This was when I began to learn much about the history of the Indigenous in Alberta and Canada. I discovered the many similarities between the Indigenous culture and the culture I grew up with in Newfoundland. These included the importance of oral history shared through a story or song, family connection, showing respect for your elders, the joyful banter of teasing one another to develop a connection, and the hardships of living in remote and sometimes harsh environments. I have developed a passion for continuing to learn and connect with members of our Indigenous community as I learned from them about the value of the land and from mother earth. The following work is a result of this learning experience.

Research Problem

This study aimed to interview educators who have successfully implemented place or land-based learning experiences into their pedagogical practice. The study also explored using place or land-based learning as a vehicle to increase student engagement and foster effective relationships. Subsequently, the researchalso addressed any pitfalls and barriers that exist through the data collected or current literature regarding the implementation of place or land-based learning experiences.

The research question guiding this study was: How are educators successfully implementing land-based learning experiences? Sub questions emerging in relation to the main question were: How has land-based learning affected student engagement? How do teachers assess and report land-based-learning? What are the pitfalls and barriers teachers experience while incorporating land-based learning experiences into their lessons and classrooms?

Literature Review

The literature review for land-based learning provided a robust repository of material.

This literature review focused on the following areas, good pedagogy benefits all students, student engagement, and effective relationships.

Good Pedagogy is Good for All Learners

Good pedagogy is good for all learners and is a common understanding amongst educators. "The quality of an education system cannot exceed the quality of its teachers" (p. 13), and "the best school systems are those that have the best teachers" (Barber & Mourshed, 2007, p. 7). The impact on student learning from teachers who practise good pedagogy is astounding. Barber and Mourshed claimed:

Bringing the lowest-performing 5-10 percent of teachers in the UK up to the average would greatly boost attainment and lead to a sharp improvement in the UK's international ranking. All other things equal, in 5 years the UK's rank amongst OECD countries would improve from 21st in reading to as high as 7th, and from 22nd in maths to as high as 12th...; over 10 years (the period a child is in the UK school system before the PISA examinations) the UK would improve its position to as high as 3rd in reading, and as high as 5th in maths. (p.5)

Land-based learning experiences are one pedagogical practice with the potential to benefit all learners. Although there are several learning experiences to consider when establishing a journey of pedagogical development, land-based or place-based learning is of particular interest when trying to engage Indigenous learners or learners who thrive in a contextual learning environment. It is a learning approach capable of incorporating more Indigenous perspectives into the classroom, an area many educators try to practise

but sometimes struggle to integrate (Aikenhead, 1997; Aikenhead & Huntley, 1999; Coalition for the Advancement of Aboriginal Studies, 2002).

Experiential learning pedagogical practices, such as land-based, gamification, project-based, and hands-on learning, combined with creating a safe space where students feel cultural heritage is valued, can create engaging spaces for students (Rebeiz & Cooke, 2017; Rigney, 2002; Bin-Sallik, 2003). These methods can increase student learning by providing better learning experiences, instant feedback, and better learning environments and can be used to catalyze behavioural change (Furdu et al.,2017). When students are invested in learning and enjoying what they learn, it develops deep learning connections. Bisson and Luckner (1996) stated: "fun turns the learning experience from a required project to [a] wanted experience" and "fun is critical to learning in that it allows spontaneous interest, [and] allows participants to have more energy for [the learning] process" (p. 111).

Much of the literature on using the land as a place for learning centers around land-based learning. This was most likely influenced by a national call for reconciliation from the Truth and Reconciliation Report, which recommended steps toward reconciliation and healing. A critical medium for incorporating this practice and perspective to drive change is education. This was reiterated in the commission's final report identifying education as "the key to reconciliation" (Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, 2015, p. 234). In Alberta, the directive was clear when signed into ministerial order #28/2020 on August 6th, 2020 (Government of Alberta). According to the Memorandum of understanding between the Government of Alberta and the Nations of Treaties 6, 7, and 8 "...the parties agree to enhance or develop culturally appropriate strategies to address land-based and experiential education, health and physical education, excellence in the arts and sports, extracurricular opportunities and to prepare the next generation

of leaders and elders" (Government of Canada, Alberta, and Assembly of Treaty Chiefs in Alberta, Memorandum of Understanding, 2010, p. 8). Due to these initiatives, there has been a push and an increase in the number of place-based and land-based learning experiences students have in schools. This was evident through the research literature that has steadily grown since the release of the Truth and Reconciliation report in 2015.

Engaging in pedagogical practice allows students to find a sense of place and belonging and gives power to their cultural heritage; furthermore, incorporating more Indigenous perspectives is a good pedagogical practice. "When our (people) engage in the journey of education that does not do violence to their culture, it teaches them to dream of possibilities and not be a prisoner of certainty... [e]ducation that welcomes Indigenous identities reinforces Indigenous cultural views of the world" (Rigney, 2002, p. 1). Creating a safe and caring environment is an objective for all schools. When we make a place for cultural safety, we do more than just create space. "Cultural safety extends beyond cultural awareness and cultural sensitivity. It empowers individuals and enables them to contribute to the achievement of positive outcomes. It encompasses a reflection on individual cultural identity and recognition of the impact of personal culture on professional practice" (Bin-Sallik, 2003, p. 21).

Student Engagement

All educators desire classes full of engaged students. "The roots of interest in engagement are, at least in part, driven by the desire to enhance student learning" (Reschly & Christenson, 2012, p. 3). The question often discussed among educators is, how do we engage students? What tactics do you use? What pedagogical practices do successful teachers use in their classrooms? Lamborn et al., (1992) stated, "for teachers, the challenge is how to get students to do academic work and to take it serious enough to learn" (p. 3). This was evident in these past few years while

teachers were navigating teaching in a pandemic. Coming through two pandemic years of schools, the assigned work became a compliance piece, and there was little numerical value placed on work presented by students, so the tasks became even more difficult for teachers. One study reported the following data and information, noting the language that changed from thriving to surviving.

We reviewed student GPA and motivation before and during the pandemic. The average student GPA before the pandemic was 3.47, and after the pandemic was 3.43. Meanwhile, the student's motivation before the pandemic was dominated by the answer " thriving " (63.3%), which changed to the answer " surviving" (45.6%). (Nurhopipah, et al., 2021, p. 165)

"Meaningful learning cannot be delivered to high school students like pizza to be consumed or videos to be observed" (Newman, 1992, p. 3). They further explain the process has to be one in which students are invested in the process of learning. Students' "learning develops largely through the labour of the student, who must be enticed to participate in a continuous cycle of studying, producing, correcting mistakes, and starting over again" (p. 3).

Newman (1992) also noted that the opportunities for student disengagement have increased over time because they have more activities available. Many academics would concur with Newman that personal devices, particularly cellphones, negatively impact student academics (Feliison & Godoi, 1999; Rosen, 2017: Ophir et al.,2009). "In fact, every ten additional minutes of cellphone use is associated with a steady reduction in academic performance" (Dontre, 2021, p. 383).

Student engagement can be subjective. Scholars have noted the multilayers of the concept of engagement. Reschly and Christenson (2012) stated;

From the earliest review to include the term engagement (Mosher & McGowan, 1985), to the publication of seminal theory about the underpinnings of school dropout and completion (Finn, 1989), to more recent conceptualizations (seeEpilogue, this volume), engagement is viewed as multidimensional, involving aspects of students' emotion, behavior (participation, academic learning time), and cognition (Fredricks, Blumenfeld, & Paris, 2004). In other words, academic engaged time is important but not enough to accomplish the goals of schooling students learning across academic, social-emotional, and behavioural domains. Student engagement is the glue, or mediator, that links important contexts—home, school, peers, and community to students and, in turn, to outcomes of interest. (p. 3)

In a case study of the H'a H'a Tumxulaux Outdoor Education Program, Rebeiz and Cooke (2017) write about the program's significant impact on student engagement. The program is an alternate learning experience for students who may not fit or have been removed from other school settings. This case study is a land-based learning experience; most students are Indigenous or Métis. The authors used a quote from sociologists DiPrete and Hout (2012) as a mantra for their program: "Education plays a dual role in the intergenerational transmission of advantage. It is both; the main channel for socio-economic reproduction and the main avenue for socio-economic mobility" (pp. 25-26). Using the theme of engaging Indigenous learners and the work of three researchers, Dr's Michelle Hogue, Sean Lessard, and Gregory Lowan-Treadue, the H'a H'a Tumxulaux program was developed.

Student engagement was the overarching framework of the program and used the following three pillars;

- Social engagement: creating a space and a sense of community and belonging were crucial parts of this program.
- 2. Academic engagement: integrating kinaesthetic learning opportunities and unconventional assessment techniques allowed students to find empowerment. Students who previously struggled with conventional ways of assessment through reading and writing often found success through differentiated assessment practices such as oral expression of understanding, skits, visual arts, and storytelling.
- 3. Intellectual engagement: the nature of the program demands that students work in collaborative critical thinking groups. Developing skills that would have any student climb the rungs of Bloom's taxonomy, reaching some of the highest levels of learning.

The program developers hoped this framework would drive the learning within their program. An accurate evaluation of the effectiveness and success can be found in the testimonials of the program participants.

My high school wasn't working for me and my grades were plummeting. These classes were long, and we would be asked to sit down, fill in a sheet and bring it back in 45 minutes. The H'a H'a program was the last effort before dropping out. Here, we go outside, the teachers pick your brain, and you don't even realize you're learning. I am Indigenous, and I have found my spirituality here, in a sense. I'm not really spiritual at all, but I now find inner peace whenever I come to school. My classmates are valuable to me; I see them for who they are, and I see that even more when we go outside. Overall, I treat a lot of things in my life

with a lot more respect thanks to the H'a H'a program (student, 16 years old). (Rebeiz & Cooke, 2017, p. 28)

As educators, we are often concerned about student engagement and have struggled with allowing the learning to naturally occur within the student's experiences. Considering an Indigenous worldview lens, educators would benefit from the wise words of Elder Dennis Whitford when asked about assessing the learning of some cultural experiences such as a sweat lodge "each individual's learning experience is different and personal, one can be sure, if they were there, they were learning." (Personal communication, D. Whitford, May 2020)

Fostering Effective Relationships

Within the province of Alberta, Canada, educational professionals are to adhere to a set of quality standards. The framework guiding the conduct of certificated Alberta educators is the Teacher Quality Standard (TQS). Certificated Alberta School principals are also held to the Leadership Quality Standard (LQS). Fostering Effective Relationships, LQS number one and Supporting the Application of Foundational Knowledge about First Nations, Métis and Inuit, LQS number five, are two essential competencies to consider when implementing and supporting land-based learning experiences. "Establishing relationships with First Nations, Métis and Inuit parents/guardians, Elders/knowledge keepers, local leaders and community members" (Alberta Education, 2019, p. 3).

Creating positive and trusting relationships leads to academic success for students. It is well documented amongst many academics (Baker, 2006; Pianta, 1999; Liew et al., 2010; Opdenakker & Minnaert, 2011; Tschannen-Moran & Gareis, 2017). The development of these relationships happen in several different scenarios. There seem to be more opportunities outside of a regular classroom setting that allows for strengthening the teacher-student relationship.

Lowman and Lowman (1984) explained that building rapport with students is vital to success and anything you do to show interest in their lives helps solidify that rapport.

Within the Indigenous community, developing relationships is crucial to the path towards reconciliation. Creating authentic relationships with families and students will break down barriers between the home and school (Personal communication Elder Dave Matilpi, September 2021). Using techniques such as teasing, storytelling, creating space, and honouring Elders, validates the significance and value of Indigenous heritage (Goulet & Goulet, 2014).

Summary

Throughout the literature review, the key findings that emerged were land-based learning is an excellent pedagogical practice that benefits many students, generally has a higher success rate in engaging students in the learning process, and an ideal vehicle for developing relationships with students. These key findings were well documented in the literature, along with other additional benefits of land-based learning. Some of these additional benefits included integrating an Indigenous worldview and giving cultural credit to students who may be of Indigenous cultural backgrounds. Another benefit would be in the power of building relationships with Elders and members of the indigenous community, in turn working towards reconciliation and strengthening the relationship between the indigenous community and school.

Method

I implemented a thematic qualitative analysis of data gathered through personal interviews to conduct this research. Creswell (2007) emphasized the importance of positioning oneself in a worldview, a paradigm. The construction of this paper was developed using an Indigenous Worldview paradigm. Three individual interviews were conducted with educators

who had implemented place-based or land-based learning into their pedagogical practice or worked within school systems based on place-based or land-based learning. Using the data gathered, I analyzed themes and patterns existing in the data set. By coding and constructing themes from the literature and the interviews, I developed understandings of how educators successfully implemented place- and land-based practices to practise good pedagogy, engaged students, fostered effective relationships and assessed and reported on learning.

Respondent Group

I connected with interview respondents through several methods. First, I was able to obtain an interview with Alberta educators through a connection within my master's cohort class. One of the interviewees, Frank, was in my cohort group, he was a teacher in Alberta, but his land-based learning experience came from his time teaching in the Northwest Territories (NWT). Another, Bill, was the husband of a member of my cohort. When my cohort partner heard of my topic, she volunteered her husband to be interviewed. Thankfully, he obliged me with the privilege to learn about his experience of teaching in a northern Alberta community. During his time there, he frequently incorporated place-based learning into his practice. The final participant was Sally. She and I completed our undergraduate degrees together, and she responded to a social media post on Facebook, where I had put out a call for participants interested in being interviewed. She incorporated the pedagogical practice of land-based learning in an alternate school she worked in Nova Scotia. All interviewees were seasoned educators with experience as classroom teachers and in other leadership and administrative roles.

Frank's and Bill's connections to place-based learning came from their passion for nature and spending time in the forest, camping, fishing, or hunting. Sally was also a passionate outdoor

enthusiast, spending much time outdoors engaging in activities such as hiking, kayaking, swimming, hunting and fishing. All educators lived and taught in communities near landscapes that provided ease of access for place and land-based learning.

Sally taught in an alternate school in Nova Scotia. The school's framework was developed around the place and land-based learning. It was a school for students who struggled or were removed from traditional school systems and buildings. Shortly after finishing her education, she was given "an opportunity I couldn't turn down," as she expressed.

Frank taught in the NWT, and one of the major learning activities for the year was a week-long traditional learning camp for the students. This was a time away on the land where students stayed over a few nights and learned about transitional knowledge and ways, such as fishing and hunting. The individuals involved were school staff, local Elders and traditional knowledge keepers.

Bill had components of land-based learning as many of his stakeholders were of Indigenous heritage; however, his planning was focused on place-based learning. Some land-based learning concepts naturally infiltrated the learning experience, although the activity did not intentionally incorporate Indigenous perspectives or include Elders. The interview with the educator who practices this pedagogy while in the Northwest Territories indicated the program was developed through the framework of Indigenous perspectives. The program developers strategically incorporated traditional ways of knowledge, substance living, and Elders and knowledge keepers.

Data Collection Process

Due to geographical distances, current pandemic protocol, and ease of access, data for this project were collected through personal interviews using the Google Meet platform. The participants were to establish an environment and a time that worked for their convenience and around their busy schedules.

Another advantage of using Google Meet was using a digital transcription tool. Using the virtual tool called Scribbl saved a significant amount of time in transcribing the interviews. Of course, nuances in speech are not perfectly transcribed during the interview process, but it ultimately allowed me to format instead of directly transcribing the conversation.

Interview Design

Using Merriam and Tisdell's (2016) categories of questions, I designed the schedule (see appendix A) to allow the respondents to provide first-hand details of their experience of a successful land or place-based learning experience. I was able to incorporate hypothetical, ideal positions, and interpretive style of questions to invoke responses from the participants that would elaborate on their experiences (Merriam & Tisdell).

I approached the research using a thematic coding approach (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). While analyzing the data, I used thematic codings such as student engagement, differentiated assessment or learning, relationships and connections, rural versus urban proximity, human resources, and capital resources. These codings allowed me to organize the themes emerging from the data. It also helped to highlight unexpected data leading to potential further research topics.

Drawing on Julia Ellis' (2006) work, I designed my interview questions to be more open-ended, allowing the respondents to extend and express their perspectives on their successful implementation of place or land-based learning. Ellis stated, "you need to create conditions that enable participants to recall significant experiences, analyze them, and reflect on their meaning" (Ellis, p. 5). I strategically developed one question that allowed the respondent to

identify memories of sight, smell, and sound and to express those learning experiences. I also asked an open-ended question about how they assessed and evaluated the students' learning experiences.

Ethics

Maintaining ethics was of utmost importance throughout this research. This project was conducted under the guidance of the Educational Policy Studies Department and the research ethics boards of the University of Alberta. This ethics approval form included some guidelines to follow. One of these guidelines included drafting letters and consent forms for participants to be informed and to give written informed consent (see appendix B) to conduct research and to use this research analytically for a concluding paper for this course. Additionally, it outlined areas we could not research; one of these areas fell within researching Indigenous communities and people. Although some of my participants did indeed teach Indigenous students, this study did not directly study Indigenous communities or people. In addition, some school divisions had research protocols in place and submitting a request for permission had to be done. Attached is an example of the process required within the Peace River School Division (see appendix C). Once these essential formalities were fulfilled, it was time to communicate with the participants about how best to gather data from their experiences.

Data Analysis

Analyzing the data using thematic coding (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016) highlighted the following codes aligned with the literature review; good pedagogy is good for all students, student engagement, and effective relationships. During the interview, all interviewees expressed great examples of these coded-themed experiences with students while learning off the land. After the first interview, I used a group of peers from the master's cohort class to provide feedback on my

questions and some of the themes that emerged from the data collected. Using their input and my reflection, I made slight revisions to the questions and adjusted the amount of input I provided as an interviewer. I used member checking with the respondents to ensure I was capturing what it was they were meant to portray during their interview.

Trustworthiness

To maintain trustworthiness and accountability, I confirmed my understanding of parts of the process along the way. I received verbal confirmation that the participants received the questions, introduction letter, and consent form before beginning the interview. I also confirmed throughout the interview process what I perceived participants were saying was actually what they intended. Finally, after editing, I allowed participants access to their final transcriptions to confirm their ideas were portrayed faithfully.

These are essential steps to help readers understand there was a due process to ensure the presented data was adequately reported to increase internal validity. I assume this may be a very delicate process for research that may be considered controversial. To my advantage, this topic carries minimal controversy, and the research group was very passionate about sharing their experience.

Limitations

When conducting research, there are often limitations that need to be highlighted to solidify the trustworthiness of the research data and reporting. Some of the limitations of this research project were; the number of respondents, personal connection to the respondents, and other themes emerging from the data that were not highlighted in this report but were examples of successful land-based learning experiences.

While collecting data, there were only three interviews conducted. It is most likely that the themes of success highlighted in this paper would have been themes of any participant running a land-based learning program. What may have been missed due to a small number of participants might have been potentially barriers or pitfalls not experienced by this respondent group; in other words, I did not reach the point of data saturation in my thematic analysis.

A personal connection can be great while interviewing, but can also cause limitations. The emotional connection can create a comfortable environment between the interviewer and the participant if they have a positive relationship. However, it can also create a scenario of conversation where the interviewer may inject his or her own stories, and opinion on the examples presented. This may have caused some barriers to the authenticity of the participant's response. This was an adjustment I had to make after my first interview.

After coding the data, several themes could have been incorporated into a report about successful land-based learning programs. However, due to time constraints, the pieces related directly to the research questions were highlighted to populate this paper.

Findings and Discussion

In this section, I will review the findings of the main themes emerging from the data, and highlight experiences from educators who successfully implement land-based learning into their practice. Following the findings will be a discussion to compare, contrast, or address the lack of literature for each theme. Upon further analysis, literature was incorporated into this section of the paper that was not included in the literature review.

Good Pedagogy Benefits All

These research data were viewed through an Indigenous worldview framework. Although it was not designed to focus directly on incorporating land-based learning into practice to increase Indigenous perspectives in classrooms, it has been a part of the learning journey for the educators interviewed. The research was intended to explore how educators ran successful land-based learning experiences and the components of those programs.

All interviewees stated incorporating hands-on learning was a pedagogical practice beneficial to all students in their classes. For some students, it was more valuable than others, particularly those who had previous experience learning off the land. Bill stated, "I have had students that were difficult to engage, but then when they come out and are doing the land-based learning, they're fully engaged and show quite a bit of leadership in the classroom because that's an area that they, maybe have experience in and are good at and are able to help out other students in the class and the kind of share what they do" (Line 337-341). He described these students as taking on a leadership role while out on the land and said it was a real confidence boost for some of them. Sally talked about the significance of changing the setting. She believed getting students outside and in the fresh air helped with their learning. She had made specific reference to coming through the restrictions of the covid pandemic and how important it was for students to have the ability to move around and express themselves. She stated it was paramount to the student's mental wellness. "It's like all the kids need is fresh air and to get out. So when you know the power of what it can do, when their mental health is struggling, and these restrictions are put on schools or put on teachers, and I understand the safety bit being so important, but we have to find ways to work with that to get the kids out" (Line 281-284). Getting out of desks and rows and bell schedules is beneficial for all students to learn.

Well-planned outdoor learning environments are good pedagogy for all students' brain development (Gill, 2014; Morris, 2003; Office for Standards in Education, 2008; Rickinson et al., 2004). These learning experiences provide engaging learning environments where students get instant feedback and can often result in their learning and inspire behavioural change (Furdu et al., 2017). Hall et al., (2020) argue for the "the value of getting students outdoors" (p. 37) using their research to support the already existing literature that argued the benefits of learning outside. The best educators are teachers who do just that; ones who engage students, inspire, become change agents and create an engaging learning environment. If good pedagogy is good for all students and "the best school systems are those that have the best teachers" (Barber & Mourshed, 2007, p. 7), then the best teachers practise land-based learning.

All interviewees expressed the valuable experiences and skills students learned while facing challenges in their learning adventures. Bill recalled an overnight trip to the lake "When we left town, it was minus 15, and by the time we got to the lake, it was minus 30" (Line 474 - 476). Much to his surprise, the students did not complain. The students used this challenge to form bonds. There was an increase in engagement as the whole group fully engaged in solutions to mitigate the fridge temperatures and construct shelters and fires that would increase comfortability while on the land. "They were laughing, having a good time, and working their tails off to get our shelter up and running, getting wood" (Line 384-385). When students enjoy learning, it becomes meaningful to them. "[F]un turns the learning experience from a required project to [a] wanted experience" and "fun is critical to learning in that it allows spontaneous interest, [and] allows participants to have more energy for [the learning] process" (Bisson & Luckner, 1996, p. 111).

When asked about unsuccessful experiences with land-based learning, Sally stated something perceived as a failure could also be an opportunity to learn through adversity. Her example was while on a canoe trip, the capsizing of the canoe could be viewed by others as a failure when it allowed the students to engage in safety practices they had learned for the trip. She also expressed how it increased the group's bond as they sat around a fire to dry their saturated clothing and gear and warm up their bodies. During this time, the students expressed what they had learned, how they deployed safety practices, and everyone safely emerged through the ordeal.

Engaging Students

Some of my questions were directed toward student engagement. During the interview, I specifically asked, compared with other pedagogical methods, how would you describe your student's engagement level, understanding, and expression of learning through land-based learning compared to others? When I asked Bill this question, he stated:

Well, I mean obviously, if you look back at what we were talking about there, it's a high-interest, high activity, high engagement type of thing. I've got kids moving, they're building their snares, they're involved in the class because they want to be. So it's fantastic because they are fully engaged the whole time that you're doing something like that, and they're learning to a certain degree. It's hard, and in this particular case, to compare that to teaching fractions in a math classroom, it's, I don't think it's necessarily fair in that aspect because I'm gonna get more engagement doing that land-based activity than I am in (pause) I shouldn't say more engagement, different kind of engagement, a more enthusiastic and smiling engagement with kids enjoying that versus fractions in a math class. (Line 307-311)

Frank recalled his time at camp when students would arrive with technology (cell phones or ipods) and lots of junk food snacks to partake in. This is what captured the engagement of the students' attention for the first few hours. "Once the students had eaten all their snacks and their batteries died on their devices, they were ready to sit and engage" (Line 298-299).

The importance of reciprocity of receiving from the land and, in return, giving back while developing respect for the land was a common theme. Interviewees expressed how students would gain a sense of wonder and awe; they were able to express their understanding through oral presentations or demonstrations of their learning. Bill said this when sharing about moments of the class eating together a stew made from rabbit harvested by one of their place-based learning experiences. Sally expressed how powerful the learning experience was sitting around a fire in the evening after a day of learning. The students would be asked questions such as "if you could take anyone on this trip, dead or alive, who would you take?" (Line 410). She still reflects on the depth of their answers, she said, "it was amazing and powerful the answers these students would give" (Line 412). The students would talk about how much they learned from the land, working with it, and on it. They would comment, "when I have kids, I'm going to take them camping. There is so much to learn" (Line 415). Although this school was developed on place-based learning, the perspective of relationship building is a crucial building block of the Indigenous worldview of learning.

Lamborn, Newmann, and Wehlage (1992) address factors influencing student engagement. They explore the diversity of student learners and learning needs. They state if a school is to focus only on "abstract verbal or mathematical competencies" (p. 25), they miss opportunities for engagement. The intrinsic value of the land-based learning experience expressed in the data concurs with Lamborn et al. Through a land-based learning lens, an

individual cannot disconnect the rich history that exists with the land and all creation's elements. (McGure-Kishebakabaykwe, 2010; Styres et al., 2013)

Students being involved in their learning was a theme which emerged from the literature. Youth are beginning to want to reconnect with their cultures and are increasingly looking for ways to reconnect with the traditional ways of living and their cultures (Friedel, 2011; MacDonald et al., 2015). One of the findings was the empowerment of allowing students to engage in this alternate learning environment. Where the empowerment came from was allowing students to be involved in their learning process and learning through experiential learning in a hands-on approach.

Students were also empowered when allowed to express their learning through different assessments. Many students who struggled with the written expression of learning found success in an opportunity to express their knowledge orally. All interviewees spoke passionately about the shift in engagement for students who did not possess skills in the traditional classroom setting but had many valuable skills in the field. It allowed these students to be seen differently by their peers and allowed classmates to observe the student's power of knowledge.

Relationship Building

Engaging with students in alternate settings provides an opportunity to develop different relationships. I have always encouraged teachers to go on field trips with students or supervise a class or team trip because on those trips, you get to connect with your students on a different level. Bill states, "you kind of developed those relationships with those, with maybe some of those kids that it might be difficult to develop a relationship in another setting. I really, really appreciate that piece of it" (Line 380-382). All interviewees spoke passionately about their experience with the students while participating in the land-based learning activities. Each

expressed great times of enjoyment as they learned and experienced together. Bill recalled when the students had engaged in a snaring activity where they harvested a rabbit from the land, then proceeded to process the rabbit and make a stew out of the meat. When interviewing Bill, it was evident from his facial expression this experience was of great value to him and the students. Bill stated:

For example, we would go out and snare rabbits and bring them back, but I'd also give the kids an opportunity if they'd been out chicken hunting to bring chickens in the class, and we'd go make a fire and cook, all of that together and have a meal and sit down around and talk and everything like that. And they can show what they've done and learned how to cook these things. So that's a pretty cool experience with it. (Line 341-346)

When I asked the respondent group about unsuccessful experiences, Sally took the opportunity to express that, despite something we may consider unsuccessful, there is value in the learning experienced during challenges. She reminisced about when they were on a trip, and the wind speed increased while they were on the water. Shortly after, they capsized their canoe, and all parties were immersed in water. Sally indicated that safety is a big part of the program, and the supervisor trained lifeguards, CPR and wilderness survival. She recalls how impressive it was that everyone kicked into the proper safety practice, and the group safely got themselves and their gear to shore. Then they started a fire, dried off, warmed up, and debriefed about the situation. She expressed the relationships that were forged through this challenge and the learning that came from the experience. Sally stated:

When we pull together, and we're able to debrief that and talk about that, you know, those are the experiences you just can't write in, right? You don't plan them. You don't want them, but when you work through them, that's the best, right. (Line 238-241)

All interviewees reiterated the importance of developing relationships with one another, expressing through examples how place and land-based learning provided opportunities to build authentic relationships with students. Developing genuine relationships is essential in incorporating an Indigenous perspective into one's pedagogical practice. Part of the journey is sharing your journey of who you are and where you come from (Personal communication, Dr. Noella Steinhauer, November, 2021). Relationships with the land and one another are of utmost importance when learning through land-based experiences. Building a relationship with each other and the land developed trust and was imperative to a successful learning experience.

Fostering effective relationships between students and teachers is crucial to students' success throughout several aspects of their schooling, from social interactions to improved academic success and reduction in overall failures (Alderman & Green, 2011). Trust is a big component of developing relationships, some scholars would say critical. Tschannen-Moran and Gareis (2017) stated, "Trust is defined as the willingness to be vulnerable to another party based on the confidence that the other party is benevolent, honest, and open" (p. 154). Given the history of the education system and our Indigenous communities, educators and leaders must be benevolent, honest and open. This is also true when working with youth (Baker, 2006; Pianta, 1999; Liew et al., 2010; Opdenakker & Minnaert, 2011). Engaging in land-based learning where challenges arise, "creates opportunities for students to participate in leadership activities and to exercise their voice in school leadership and decision making" (Alberta Education, 2019, p. 5). You will find no better example of when Lowman and Lowman (1984) write about the advantages of

building rapport with students, particularly by showing interest in their lives, then allowing a student to bring in an animal they hunted to make food for their peers.

Assessing and Reporting

One area for this research topic I was specifically interested in was how teachers assess and report on land-based learning. During data collection, the respondents gave examples of how they would assess the learning experience. This ranged from oral presentations to journal entries to a pass or fail method of reporting. One thing is clear, there is limited literature regarding the successful implementation of assessment practices for things such as land-based learning experiences. Our current model of education requires teachers to assess students for the purpose of reporting to stakeholders on students' understandings of a prescribed curriculum approved by the office of education. Datta (2018) stated, "the evaluation process (i.e., the grading system) was identified as the main problematic issue in environmental science education. They explained that the sciences (such as physics, environment, biology, and math), particularly associated with evaluative approaches, lead to apathy toward science education" (p. 11).

When viewing these learning experiences through an Indigenous Worldview, it is believed the learning happens within the experience. "Land-based learning, ceremony, and cultural experiences are opportunities to learn on a personal level; the experience itself is learning" (Elder Denis Whitford, personal communication, May 28, 2021).

Barriers to Land-based learning

Although there is some literature on the barriers to this pedagogical approach, it is limited, particularly with relation to land-based learning. When trying to implement programming and activities into the learning environment, one can encounter barriers to implementation. Some of these barriers can create extra work, extra cost, and challenges for

place and land-based learning (Giles et al., 2020; Gruenewald, 2006; Dawson & Moore, 2011; Ritchie & Coughlan, 2004). The data collected during the interviews noted the following barriers: proximity to land-based resources, red tape, cost, and attitudes.

Proximity to land-based resources

All three interviewees noted the importance of their proximity to the land as a resource to teach land-based learning. They noted, if teachers are looking to incorporate land-based learning, they have to consider the time for travel, cost, and time away from school for these experiences. Students and staff could leave the school and reach their learning destination on foot for many learning experiences shared through interviews, a luxury for schools located in rural settings. Schools in an urban setting can certainly incorporate land-based learning, just be aware that travel to the location will have to take more time to organize. It is a reason some schools or university programs are seeing reductions in field experience participants, place, time, and cost (Giles et al., 2020).

Red Tape-Paperwork, insurance, and certification.

Red tape referenced in these interviews included insurance liabilities, institutional paperwork, access to budgets to run such programs, and staff with proper training (certification outside of that required to be certified as a teacher, such as first aid, lifeguard training, and survival training). All interviewees addressed these as barriers one may encounter when planning to incorporate land-based learning into their practice. After a recent school administrators' meeting where a new insurance policy was introduced, Bill noted some restrictions will create barriers to continuing with land-based learning activities. Currently, insurance companies have banned using an axe in a school setting. Bill's question was, "how am I gonna build shelters and go out and do that stuff if I can't teach my kids how to use an axe properly?"

Sally addressed the importance of training received outside of her formal education. She had received lifeguarding, CPR, wilderness survival, and outdoor education certification. She stated that this could become a barrier for educators looking to incorporate activities with insurance restrictions. These barriers can be overcome, but one should consider the time it will take to become fully certified and the cost.

Cost

When running any learning program, there are costs associated. During the interview process, Frank shared that implementing the cultural week-long camp was one of his largest budgeted projects for the school year. Sally talked about the cost of certification for staff training to ensure safety protocols were being met during these learning experiences. These costs need to be considered when budgeting for these learning experiences. Sizes of organizational or school budgets will impact the amount of engagement a school can support for land-based learning. As Giles et al., (2020) stated, "The cost of field trips themselves can present further roadblocks" (p. 1). In this article, the authors write about university courses, and initially, the costs were incurred by the students, creating barriers to engaging in such fieldwork. In a publicly funded school, the costs would fall within the school-based budget. Costs are reported in other articles as barriers as well. Hall et al., (2020) express cost as a barrier to outdoor physical education, and provide alternatives to educators looking to add variation to their program in a cost efficient manner.

Attitudes

One final barrier was with colleagues and attitudes toward place-based learning. Sally expressed how the program could be difficult to implement if administration did not see the value in such programs. "When I worked at the alternate school, my administrator understood the program's significance and supported the land-based learning opportunities." Unfortunately, she

recalled an administrator who would create paperwork barriers to the planning portion of these place-based learning experiences. She also highlighted the attitude of some staff that these adventures were of no value and not teaching. Combatting and changing those attitudes were also part of her journey of advocating for place-based learning. Intertwined with these attitudes are often questions of accountability of such programming. Gruenewald (2006) stated, "[f]ormal educational systems in the USA are currently controlled by systems of accountability that disregard place—the local cultural and natural environment" (p. 280). A shift in mentality needs to happen to implement land-based learning into one practice. "If place-based education is to emerge as a legitimate pedagogy within these formal systems, its advocates will need the widespread support of community collaboration and a systematic method of demonstrating accountability and effectiveness (p. 280).

Research Conclusions

This research project explored how educators successfully implement placed-based or land-based learning into their teaching routines. The interviews revealed that strategic planning, supportive administration, and collaboration with local community members and experts resulted in successful land-based learning experiences. Because of these experiences, students experienced good hands-on pedagogy and learning, higher engagement rates, and developed strong relationships with teachers and peers.

When asked how teachers implement successful land-based learning pedagogy, the results were clear, concise, and conclusive with all respondents. First, consider ways to incorporate land-based learning into your current curriculum. This includes implementing a plan, gathering all necessary resources (human, paperwork, safety equipment, and materials), creating

safety plans, and executing your lesson. Second, be sure that the administration and guardians are in favour of the learning experience. Thirdly, budget accordingly. Finally, get out there and do it. These are the ways these teachers have incorporated successful land-based learning experiences. From the literature and the data collected from the interviews, if you are looking for a good pedagogical practice and wanting to incorporate an Indigenous perspective into your routine, land-based learning in one lesson plan is to consider.

It is evident through the interview responses and the literature review, the following areas are benefits of land-baed learning: (a) good pedagogical practice to incorporate Indigenous perspectives, (b) higher student engagement, and (c) fostering effective relationships with students. If these are areas in your teaching practice you are trying to improve, consider land-based learning as a part of your lesson planning.

Numerous examples from the interview data and academic literature expressed the increase in student engagement once given these opportunities. It provided an avenue for students who may struggle with traditional classroom practices to show their peers their knowledge prowess. At the same time, in the bush, it boosted the confidence of students to be able to do tasks such as making fire. It provided students with a connection to the land while preparing their food from animals they harvested. It helped students respect the land and animals they harvest for sustenance.

Finally, it is without a doubt that these experiences increase student and teacher relationships. When the respondent groups were asked about one of the most rewarding things they gleaned from land-based learning, the overwhelming response was about the relationships built while working together. This is also clear in the literature and in case study examples such as the H'a Tumxulaux program. The testimonies of students in that program indicated that

these programs have positively impacted their relationships with staff and, in turn, their attitudes towards learning.

The goal was to highlight place or land-based learning as one option to increase student engagement and, in turn, incorporate more Indigenous perspectives into a teacher's practice. The interview process was intriguing and informative. Many of the participant's responses aligned with current research and the benefits of place or land-based learning. Students' engagement while participating in experiential learning was more significant than in the traditional classroom style of pedagogy, such as the stand and delivered method or worksheets.

Place-based and land-based learning is but one pedagogical tool to engage students. I believe there is great value in this type of learning that supersedes other teaching methods, including building relationships, empowering students who struggle with traditional ways of learning, engaging students in the learning process, building perseverance, developing character, and incorporating cultural relevance and perspectives for Indigenous learners. These reasons are why I advocate for place and land-based learning to be part of any school's regular learning experiences.

The findings are helpful if a teacher wants to incorporate place or land-based learning into the pedagogical repertoire. The barriers and pitfalls in the data and literature are beneficial for planning. The proximity to land-based resources is useful; teachers finding themselves in a place where access to this resource is challenging must consider alternative ways to overcome these obstacles. The cost of running such programs and certifying staff will need to be addressed in the planning stage. Opposition from other staff or leaders will need to be considered. Insurance liabilities and time frames will have to be a part of planning such an enriching experience.

My understanding of place and land-based learning changed throughout this learning journey. Bowra et al., (2020) explain the difference between place-based and land-based learning. "Placed-based learning differs from land-based learning because it does not connect the place with Indigenous history, knowledge, or stories. Place-based learning fails to acknowledge that all places were once and continued to be Indigenous lands" (p. 34). According to this definition, only one of the three interviews fit the description of land-based learning, while the other two were place-based learning experiences.

It would appear that many people do not know the distinction between place-based and land-based learning. The differences can be challenging to establish as place-based can easily become land-based learning if an Indigenous perspective is incorporated. It was commonplace to see place-based learning be easily adapted to become land-based learning from the interviews conducted. Since many educators I interviewed taught a mixed cultural population, including many Indigenous learners, the line between place-based and land-based learning was often blurred. To explain further, when the interviewees provided examples, some of what they referred to as land-based learning would be, by definition, place-based learning. However, the experience could change mid-way through the example if a student or the teacher would incorporate a connection to the land and Indigenous ways. I state this to highlight the challenge of the minute distinction between place-based and land-based learning.

It is to be noted, although only one could genuinely fall into the land-based category, the data collected from all respondents contained components of land-based learning. The valuable information obtained from the interviews was important to incorporate into this report. As stated in the opening paragraph, good pedagogy is good for all learners and place-based or land-based learning is good for all students.

Recommendations

When incorporating land-based learning into one's classroom, it is imperative to incorporate local Elders and, or Knowledge Keepers into the planning and implementation stage. To understand true land-based learning, the experiences need to be filtered through an Indigenous Worldview; incorporating Elders or Knowledge Keepers helps draw connections to the land and follow local protocol.

Budgeting is important to consider when planning these activities. Both Frank and Sally had stated the cost of the program while being interviewed. Frank referenced it as one of the biggest costs of the school for the year. In developing a budget for land-based learning, remember to include the protocol. The protocol can change from Nation to Nation and between regional Indigenous groups. Be sure to check with local Elders to understand what the protocol is for the exchange of knowledge Elders will share. For many, a gift of tobacco is a common protocol and a monetary honorarium. Costs could include but are not limited to; transportation, honorarium, protocol gifts, food, supplies, and certification for staff.

Understand why you want to incorporate land-based learning into your practice. During this research project, many benefits have been highlighted. These are reasons to incorporate land-based learning into your practice. Many other benefits well documented in the academic literature would enhance one's position for engaging in land-based pedagogy. Knowing these benefits would be of value if one were to encounter a reluctant colleague or administrator that may struggle to see the cost to value benefits of such learning experiences.

Potential Next Steps

An area lacking in the literature is assessing and reporting land or place-based learning.

Traditionally, within our current education system, place or land-based learning experiences

demand some sort of assessment. However, land-based learning experiences do not lend well to traditional reporting methods. It is difficult to take an experience such as sitting around a campfire and unpacking the learning of safely navigating a capsized canoe. Then present that learning in a quantitative or qualitative form to report to stakeholders.

One could argue that you actually should not report on land-based learning experiences. Through an Indigenous worldview lens, the learning would occur when people are present and involved in the activity; the learning is a personal journey. We would trust that learning occurred, and there would be no need to quantify or report that journey. Elder Dennis Whitford stated, "land-based learning, ceremony, and cultural experiences are opportunities to learn on a personal level; the experience itself is learning" (personal communication, May 28, 2021).

When I specifically asked about assessment practices, the respondent group had incorporated assessment pieces into their student's learning experiences through activities such as talking circles, reflective essays, oral presentations while hiking a trail, presenting after every kilometre, and visual displays. The question remains: are our current requirements of reporting to stakeholders driving this practice? One interview stated that these activities are best as experiences and not to assess them. An argument could be made that there is a need for reform within our current education system if we are to start to expand our pedagogical practices, we need to differentiate our learning environments and assessments. Perhaps we need to abandon the concept of reporting on everything and trust, as elder Whitford expressed, "that learning is happening if someone is allowed to be involved in the experience" (personal communication, May 28, 2021).

An important question that needs to be asked is, how do we continue to develop enriching learning experiences based on place and land-based learning opportunities and move away from

traditional assessing and reporting practices? Exploring the assessments of or the need to assess these types of learning experiences are valuable next steps for further research topics. They would add great value to an evolving educational system.

References

- Aikenhead, G. (1997). Towards a First Nations cross-cultural science and technology curriculum. *Science Education*, 81(2), 217-238. Doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-237X(199704)81:2<217::AID-SCE6>3.0.CO;2-
- Aikenhead, G., & Huntley, B. (1999). Teacher's views on aboriginal students learning western and aboriginal science. *Canadian Journal of Native Education*, 23(2), 159-175.
- Alderman, G. L., & Green, S. K. (2011). Social powers and effective classroom management:

 Enhancing teacher–student relationships. *Intervention in school and clinic*, 47(1), 39-44.
- Alberta Education. (2020). Student learning: An order to adopt or approve goals and standards applicable to the provision of education in Alberta. Retrieved from:

 https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/ministerial-order-on-student-learning-2020/resource/5a510

 797-645e-419f-acbd-6a9dfdb41cd0
- Barber, M., & Mourshed, M. (2007). How the world's best education systems come out on top. *London: McKinsey*.
- Bin-Sallik, M. (2003). Cultural safety; Let's name it. *The Australian Journal of Indigenous Education*, 32, 21-28.
- Bisson, C., & Luckner, J. (1996). Fun in learning: The pedagogical role of fun in adventure education. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 19(2), 108-112.
- Bowra, A., Mashford-Pringle, A., & Poland, B. (2021). Indigenous learning on Turtle Island: A review of the literature on land-based learning. *The Canadian Geographer*, *65*(2), 132–140.

- Creswell, J. (2007). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions*. SAGE Publications Inc.
- Coalition for the Advancement of Aboriginal Studies (CAAS). (2002). Learning about walking in beauty: Placing aboriginal perspectives in Canadian classrooms. Canadian Race Relations Foundation (CRRF).
- Dawson, V., & Moore, L. (2011). Teachers' perspectives of the new Western Australian earth and environmental science course: lessons for the Australian Curriculum. *Teaching Science*, 57(1), 19-27.
- Datta, R. K. (2018). Rethinking environmental science education from Indigenous knowledge perspectives: An experience with a Dene First Nation community. *Environmental Education Research*, 24(1), 50-66.
- DiPrete, T., & Hout, M. (2012). *Equity and quality in education: Supporting disadvantaged students and schools*. OECD publishing p. 25-26.
- Dontre, A. J. (2021). The influence of technology on academic distraction: A review. *Human Behavior and Emerging Technologies*, *3*(3), 379-390.
- Ellis, J. (2006). Researching children's experience hermeneutically and holistically. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, *52*, (3), 111.
- Friedel, T. L. (2011). Looking for learning in all the wrong places: Urban native youths' cultured response to Western-oriented place-based learning. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 24(5), 531–546.

- Furdu, I., Tomozei, C., & Kose, U. (2017). Pros and cons gamification and gaming in classroom.

 *Retrieved from https://arxiv.org/abs/1708.09337.
- Giles, S., Jackson, C., & Stephen, N. (2020). Barriers to fieldwork in undergraduate geoscience degrees. *Nature Reviews Earth & Environment*, 1(2), 77-78.
- Gill, T. (2014). The benefits of children's engagement with nature: A systematic literature review. *Children, Youth and Environments*, *24*(2), 10–34.
- Government of Canada, Alberta, and Assembly of Treaty Chiefs in Alberta. (2010).

 *Memorandum of Understanding for First Nations Education in Alberta. Retrieve from:

 https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/e0b50f99-a505-4659-8024-79a46293ddce/resource/404907

 01-22e1-4e24-b2f6-1c41187d968c/download/5337329-2010-02-24-memorandum-of-und

 erstanding-first-nations-education-in-alberta.pdf
- Goulet, L. M., & Goulet, K. N. (2014). *Teaching each other: Nehinuw concepts and Indigenous pedagogies*. UBC press.
- Greenwood, M., & de Leeuw, S. (2007). Teachings from the land: Indigenous people, our health, our land, and our children. *Canadian Journal of Native Education*, 30(1).
- Gruenewald, D. A. (2005). Accountability and collaboration: Institutional barriers and strategic pathways for place-based education. *Ethics, Place and Environment*, 8(3), 261-283.
- Hall, N., Robinson, D. B., Bradford, B., & da Costa, J. (2022). Alternative environment activities in physical education: A research-informed rationale and practical suggestions for teacher practice. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, *93*(1), 36-44.

- Janelle, A., Laliberté, A. & Ottawa, U. (2009). Promoting traditions: An evaluation of a wilderness activity among First Nations of Canada. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 17(1): S108–S111.
- Liew, J., Chen, Q., & Hughes, J. N. (2010). Child effortful control, teacher-student relationships, and achievement in academically at-risk children: Additive and interactive effects. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 25, 51-64.
- Lowman, J., & Lowman, J. (1984). *Mastering the techniques of teaching* (Vol. 1990). Jossey-Bass.
- MacDonald, J. P., Willox, A. C., Ford, J. D., Shiwak, I., Wood, M., Government, R. I. C., & IMHACC Team. (2015). Protective factors for mental health and well-being in a changing climate: Perspectives from Inuit youth in Nunatsiavut, Labrador. *Social Science & Medicine*, *141*. 133-141.
- MacKinnon, S. (2021). Critical place-based pedagogy in an inner-city university department:

 Truth, reconciliation and neoliberal austerity. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society, 29*(1),

 137-154, DOI: 10.1080/14681366.2019.1694058
- McGuire–Kishebakabaykwe, P. D. (2010). Exploring resilience and Indigenous ways of knowing. Pimatisiwin: *A Journal of Aboriginal and Indigenous Community Health*, 8(2).117–131.
- Merriam, S.B. & Tisdell, E.J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation (4th ed.).* Jossey-Bass.
- Moore, P. J. (2003). Lessons on the land: The role of Kaska elders in a university language course. *Canadian Journal of Native Education*, *27*(1).

- Morris, N. (2003). *Health, well-being and open space*. Edinburgh College of Art and Heriot-Watt University.
- Nurhopipah, A., Nuraida, I. & Suhaman, J. (2021). Exploring indirect aspects in motivation and academic achievement during the pandemic. *Journal of Education, Teaching and Learning*, *6*(2), 163-168. STKIP Singkawang. Retrieved July 13, 2022 from https://www.learntechlib.org/p/219953/.
- Office for Standards in Education (2008). *Learning outside the classroom: How far should you go?* (Ofsted Report No. 070219). London, Crown Publications.
- Opdenakker, M. C., Minnaert, A. (2011). Relationship between learning environment characteristics and academic achievement. *Psychological Reports*, *109*(1), 259-284.
- Ophir, E., Nass, C., & Wagner, A. D. (2009). Cognitive control in media multitaskers.

 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(37), 15583-15587.
- Pianta, R. C. (1999). *Enhancing relationships between children and teachers*. American Psychological Association.
- Rebeiz, A., & Cooke, M. (2017). Land-Based Learning: A case study report for educators tasked with integrating Indigenous worldviews into classrooms. Innovation that sticks.

 Canadian Education Association.
- Ritchie, B. W., & Coughlan, D. (2004). Understanding school excursion planning and constraints: An Australian case study. *Tourism Review International*, 8(2), 113-126.
- Rickinson, M., Dillon, J., Team, K., Morris, M., Young Choi, M., Sanders, D., & Benefield, P. (2004). *A review of research on outdoor learning [Executive Summary]* (pp. 5–63). London: National Foundation for Educational Research and King's College

- Rigney, L.H. (2002) Bread versus Freedom: Treaty and stabilizing Indigenous languages.

 National Treaty Conference 29th Aug 2002, Canberra ACT.
- Rosen, L. D. (2017). The distracted student mind—enhancing its focus and attention. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 99(2), 8-14.
- Styres, S., Haig-Brown, C., & Blimkie, M. (2013). Towards a pedagogy of land: The urban context. *Canadian Journal of Education*, *36*(2), 34–67.
- Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015). Final Report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada: Honouring the truth, reconciling for the future.

 Summary. Volume One. James Lorimer Limited, Publishers.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Gareis, C. R. (2017). Principals, trust, and cultivating vibrant schools.
- Leithwood, K., Sun, J., & Pollock, K. (Eds.). (2017). *How school leaders contribute to student success: The four paths framework* (Vol. 23). Springer.

Appendix A

Schedule of interview questions asked to the respondent group.

Questions

- 1. Tell me about a land-based learning activity that you conducted with the students that you felt was a success and one that was, in your opinion, unsuccessful?
- 2. Compared with other pedagogical methods, how would describe your student's engagement level, understanding, and expression of learning through land-based learning compared to others?
- 3. Tell me about a time when you ever experienced a student who has never engaged in other methods of learning but was fully engaged and excited about land-based learning or vice versa?
- 4. What do you feel are some of the rewards of land-based learning? What are some of the challenges?
- 5. If you were to close your eyes could you describe your observations of your student's learning experience? What did they say, what did you observe of how they approached this style of learning, what was the general feeling amongst the group, and were there sounds, smells, and images that stick in your mind?
- 6. How did you assess, and report students' experiences and the relevance of that experience to their learning? How do you feel about assessing and reporting on land-based learning?
- 7. How did you or would you make this a common incorporation of your teaching practice?

Appendix B

Letter of introduction to potential respondent group members, outlining the nature and intent of the research interviews.

Jonathan Pittman

Educational Policy Studies Dept 7-133E Education Centre - North 8730 - 112 St NW Edmonton, AB T6G 2R3 pittman@ualberta.ca

February 5th, 2022

Recipient Name Recipient City, Province Postal Code

Dear < Recipient Name>,

I am a graduate student in the Educational Policies Studies 509 courses. This is a graduate course within the Education department at the University of Alberta. The purpose of this letter is to you to take part in a research assignment for my EDPS 509 Research Design and Data Analysis course. My assignment is intended to determine how educators have successfully engaged students learning and understanding through land-based learning and to learn of any barriers or pitfalls of your experiences. Your participation would involve a series of 7 questions asked through a personal interview via Google meet (or another acceptable platform) about land-based learning and your experiences as an educator with such pedagogical practice. Your requirements should you choose to participate, the interview process will last approximately an hour, once the interview has been transcribed, I will send it to you to assure my credibility in properly capturing your responses, and finally if you desire, I can share a copy of my final work. Your participation is voluntary; there will be no consequence to you should you decline to participate or decide to withdraw from participating.

To gather data for my research assignment, I will be conducting <u>personal interview</u> via Google meet (or another acceptable platform). The interview will be <u>audio recorded</u> and transcribed. Please note:

Educational Policy Studies

Appendix B (continued)

- You may choose not to answer any question.
- You may opt out of this research assignment once responses have been submitted.
 To do so, please submit your request by email by March 16th, 2022 and I will destroy all data.
- I will send you a transcription of the interview as well as a summary of the main points I understood you to make by email; you will have the opportunity to verify the accuracy of the transcription and my interpretation of it.

Should any concerns, complaints, or questions arise from your participation, you may contact me or my instructor, Dr. Jose da Costa (¡dacosta@ualberta.ca).

All data will be handled in compliance with the University of Alberta Standards for the Protection of Human Research Participants:

- Participant names will not be revealed. To protect confidentiality, pseudonyms or numerical coding will be used in all written representations of the data.
- Hard copy data will be locked in secure files and will be destroyed on my completion of my graduate program.
- Digital data will be stored on my computer under a secure password-protected system
 and will be destroyed on my completion of my graduate program.
- Data will be used to complete my EDPS 509 course, my graduate program, and may be used in future presentations and publications in educational contexts.

Thank you for considering this invitation to participate in my research. If you wish to participate, please sign the attached consent form and return it to pittman@ualberta.ca or pittman@ualberta.ca or pittman@ualberta.ca or pittmani@prsd.ab.ca by February 28th, 2022. I have included two copies of the consent form: one is to be signed by you and the other is for your own records.

The plan for this research has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines and approved by Research Ethics Board 1 at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, you can contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615.

University of Alberta Ethics ID# Pro00096710

Educational Policy Studies

Should you wish a copy of my research findings, I would be pleased to provide one on your request.

Sincerely,

Jonathan Pittman
Graduate student in the Master of Educational Leadership and Administration
Faculty of Education, University of Alberta
780-625-5254 or 780-624-4221
pittman@ualberta.ca or pittmanj@prsd.ab.ca

Appendix C

Participant consent form.



UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

I understand that my participation includes:

- The intention is to interview you with a series of 7 questions about land-based learning and your experiences as an educator with such pedagogical practice. Here are your requirements should you choose to participate. The interview process will last approximately an hour, once the interview has been transcribed I will send it to you to assure my credibility in properly capturing your responses, and finally if you desire I can share a copy of my final work.
- The interview will be recorded and conducted over Google meet (or another suitable video conference platform that is most comfortable for the participants i.e Zoom, or Teams)

As per the Letter of Information, I understand that:

- · My participation in this research is voluntary.
- . I may withdraw from the research without penalty until March 31, 2022.
- All information gathered will be treated confidentially.
- No identifying information will appear on written representations of the data: pseudonyms or numerical coding will be used to convey the data.
- The data will be used for the purposes of completion of the Master of Education in Educational Studies (MES) program and may be used in future presentations and publications in the educational context.
- The plan for this research has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines and approved by Research Ethics Board 1 at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, I can contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615.

University of Alberta Ethics ID# Pro00096710

Educational Policy S	Studies
7-104 Education North • University of Alberta • . Telephone: (780) 492-7625 • Fax:	
Signature of Participant	Date

Appendix D

Peace River School Division consent form to conduct interviews

RESEARCH REQUEST CHECKLIST (To be completed by the researcher and submitted along with other relevant documents) Name of Researcher:	Ass	istant Superintendent - Teaching & Learning	Jeff Thompson (7	780) 624-3650
Organization / Affiliation: PRSD - Usef Masfer Chart Title of Research: Date Submitted: Feb (/ 1422 Proposed Start Date: Proposed Sta				
Title of Research: Date Submitted: Feb / 122 Proposed Start Date: Feb 5/26 22 1. Is the proposed study related to the PRSD's mandate and primary lines of business? 2. Is the proposed study associated with a post-secondary educational institution? Yes No 3. Has a list of the target schools been provided? Yes No 4. Have you indicated how the proposed study will be conducted in a manner that does not negatively impact on instructional time? 5. Has ethical approval been granted for this proposed study? a. If so, have you included a copy of the approval letter in this application package? 6. Have you included a copy of the letter you will use to inform potential participants of the nature and extent of the research project? 7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? Yes No 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of		(To be completed by the researcher and submitted along with other	relevant docu	ments)
Title of Research: Date Submitted: Feb / 122 Proposed Start Date: Feb 5/26 22 1. Is the proposed study related to the PRSD's mandate and primary lines of business? 2. Is the proposed study associated with a post-secondary educational institution? Yes No 3. Has a list of the target schools been provided? Yes No 4. Have you indicated how the proposed study will be conducted in a manner that does not negatively impact on instructional time? 5. Has ethical approval been granted for this proposed study? a. If so, have you included a copy of the approval letter in this application package? 6. Have you included a copy of the letter you will use to inform potential participants of the nature and extent of the research project? 7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? Yes No 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of	N	ame of Researcher: Von Pittman		
Title of Research: Date Submitted: Feb / 2122 Proposed Start Date: Feb / 2122 1. Is the proposed study related to the PRSD's mandate and primary lines of business? 2. Is the proposed study associated with a post-secondary educational institution? Yes No 3. Has a list of the target schools been provided? Yes No 4. Have you indicated how the proposed study will be conducted in a manner that does not negatively impact on instructional time? Yes No 5. Has ethical approval been granted for this proposed study? Yes No 6. Have you included a copy of the approval letter in this application package? Yes No 7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? Yes No a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? Yes No A. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of				
Date Submitted: Feb (1222 Proposed Start Date: Feb (5/26 22 22 1. Is the proposed study related to the PRSD's mandate and primary lines of business? 2. Is the proposed study associated with a post-secondary educational institution? Yes No Has a list of the target schools been provided? Yes No Have you indicated how the proposed study will be conducted in a manner that does not negatively impact on instructional time? Yes No Has ethical approval been granted for this proposed study? Yes No Have you included a copy of the approval letter in this application package? Yes No Have you included a copy of the letter you will use to inform potential participants of the nature and extent of the research project? Yes No How Yes No How Yes No How Yes No Have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? Yes No How Yes No Have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? Yes No How Yes No Have you provided a list of the methodology? Yes No Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? Yes No Mol Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of				
business? 2. Is the proposed study associated with a post-secondary educational institution? 3. Has a list of the target schools been provided? 4. Have you indicated how the proposed study will be conducted in a manner that does not negatively impact on instructional time? 5. Has ethical approval been granted for this proposed study? a. If so, have you included a copy of the approval letter in this application package? 6. Have you included a copy of the letter you will use to inform potential participants of the nature and extent of the research project? 7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? Yes No			Feb 51	2022
2. Is the proposed study associated with a post-secondary educational institution? 3. Has a list of the target schools been provided? 4. Have you indicated how the proposed study will be conducted in a manner that does not negatively impact on instructional time? 5. Has ethical approval been granted for this proposed study? a. If so, have you included a copy of the approval letter in this application package? 6. Have you included a copy of the letter you will use to inform potential participants of the nature and extent of the research project? 7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? Yes No	1.	Is the proposed study related to the PRSD's mandate and primary lines of	Yes	No
3. Has a list of the target schools been provided? 4. Have you indicated how the proposed study will be conducted in a manner that does not negatively impact on instructional time? 5. Has ethical approval been granted for this proposed study? a. If so, have you included a copy of the approval letter in this application package? 6. Have you included a copy of the letter you will use to inform potential participants of the nature and extent of the research project? 7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of	_		Ves .	No.
4. Have you indicated how the proposed study will be conducted in a manner that does not negatively impact on instructional time? 5. Has ethical approval been granted for this proposed study? a. If so, have you included a copy of the approval letter in this application package? 6. Have you included a copy of the letter you will use to inform potential participants of the nature and extent of the research project? 7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? Yes No				
does not negatively impact on instructional time? 5. Has ethical approval been granted for this proposed study? a. If so, have you included a copy of the approval letter in this application package? 6. Have you included a copy of the letter you will use to inform potential participants of the nature and extent of the research project? 7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of			Yes	No
5. Has ethical approval been granted for this proposed study? a. If so, have you included a copy of the approval letter in this application package? 6. Have you included a copy of the letter you will use to inform potential participants of the nature and extent of the research project? 7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of	-		Yes	No
package? 6. Have you included a copy of the letter you will use to inform potential participants of the nature and extent of the research project? 7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of	5.		Yes	No
6. Have you included a copy of the letter you will use to inform potential participants of the nature and extent of the research project? 7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of		a. If so, have you included a copy of the approval letter in this application		
of the nature and extent of the research project? 7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of		package?	Yes 🗸	No
7. Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16? a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of	6.	Have you included a copy of the letter you will use to inform potential participants		
a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of		of the nature and extent of the research project?	Yes	No
be sending to parents? 8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of	7.	Does the proposed study involve students under the age of 16?	Yes	No 🕞
8. Will the proposed study use: a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of		a. If so, have you included a copy of the parental consent letter that you will		
a. Quantitative methodology? b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? No No No No No No No No			Yes	No
b. Qualitative methodology? c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? No No No No No No No No No N	8.		Yes	No
c. Mixed methods? 9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of			Yes V	No C
9. Have you provided a list of the methodological instruments to be used in the study (e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of			· · · ·	—
(e.g., tests, surveys, interview questions, etc.)? Yes No 10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of	9.		Yes	No
10. Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of	٥.		Voc .	No.
_	10.		162	NO
the next classes (schools that request come?)	10.	Will the results of the proposed study be made available to the division and any of		